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I. NATURE OF THE CASE 

Petitioner, Estate of Appleton (“Appleton”) 

defendant/appellant below, seeks review of the Court of 

Appeals, Division I, decision in this case. 

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Should this Court review Division I’s decision which 

raises a significant question of state constitutional law about 

whether a court’s submission of a juror question to a witness on 

a subject that was not addressed in either direct or cross-

examination constitutes an impermissible comment on the 

evidence? 

2. Should this Court accept review where Division I’s 

decision raises an issue of substantial public interest regarding 

whether a court has unlimited discretion to submit a juror 

question to a witness on a subject not addressed in the witness’s 

direct or cross-examination? 

3. Should this Court accept review where Division I’s 

decision conflicts with Supreme Court decisions that a moving 
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party only carries her burden on summary judgment if she 

establishes there are no issues of material fact? 

4. Should this Court accept review where Division I’s 

decision conflicts with Supreme Court decisions on the 

standard of review of summary judgment motions that all 

inferences must be construed in favor of the nonmoving party? 

III. RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURE 

Division I of the Court of Appeals issued its decision on 

December 26, 2023.  On February 5, 2024, the Court of 

Appeals issued a Substituted Unpublished Opinion and an 

Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Withdrawing 

and Substituting Opinion.  Copies of the February 5, 2024, 

Substituted Unpublished Opinion and Order Denying Motion 

for Reconsideration and Withdrawing and Substituting Opinion 

are as Appendix A and B, pursuant to RAP 13.4(c)(9). 

Division I held that the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion by submitting two juror questions to Ramanpreet 

Kumar (“Kumar “) about pain from childbirth although the 
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subject of childbirth had not been raised in the direct or cross 

examination of Kumar. 

Division I also concluded the trial court did not err 

granting Kumar’s motion for partial summary judgment 

because (a) Kumar carried her initial burden on summary 

judgment, (b) the opinions of Appleton’s expert, Dr. Harris, 

were based on speculation, conjecture, assumptions, and mere 

possibility, (Slip Opinion at 8-9), and (c) Appleton’s summary 

judgment materials were conclusory.   

IV. ARGUMENT 

This Court accepts review if one or more of the criteria 

set forth in RAP 13.4(b) is met.  RAP 13.4(b) provides: 

A petition for review will be accepted by the 
Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the 
Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of 
the Supreme Court; or . . . (3) If a significant 
question of law under the Constitution of the State 
of Washington . . . is involved; or (4) If the petition 
involves an issue of substantial public interest that 
should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b).   
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This petition meets all three of the criteria above.  First, 

the Division I decision raises a significant state constitutional 

question:  does a trial court commit an unconstitutional 

comment on the evidence when submitting a juror question to a 

witness that exceeds the rules of evidence?  RAP 13.4(b)(3).  

Second, this petition presents an issue of substantial public 

interest about CR 43(k) which this Court should review: can 

juror questions under CR 43(k) exceed the rules of evidence?  

RAP 13.4(b)(4).  This Court has not yet addressed how CR 

43(k) applies and should do so now. 

Finally, Division I’s decision conflicts with this Court’s 

decisions on summary judgment rules. RAP 13.4(b)(1).  As a 

result, the Petitioner respectfully requests this Court accept 

review. 
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A. DIVISION I’S DECISION PRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT 
QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE WASHINGTON STATE 
CONSTITUTION: WHETHER A TRIAL COURT’S 
SUBMISSION OF A JUROR QUESTION THAT EXCEEDS THE 
SCOPE OF DIRECT AND CROSS-EXAMINATION 
CONSTITUTES AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL COMMENT ON 
THE EVIDENCE. 

Division I concluded the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion by submitting the following juror questions to 

Plaintiff Kumar: “Does this pain affect your desire to have 

children? Is it too painful or would it be prohibitive?” (Slip Op. 

at 13-14). Before the juror questions, Kumar had not mentioned 

anything about a desire to have children.  Before the juror 

questions, Kumar did not mention anything about pain from 

childbirth.  In fact, Kumar did not mention nor had she been 

asked about potential future children, her ability to get 

pregnant, or whether she could carry a baby to term.  The 

subject of childbirth was totally absent from Kumar’s 

testimony---until the court posed the juror questions to Kumar. 

Nevertheless, Division I concluded that because an 

earlier witness, Dr. Garcia, testified that the option of sacroiliac 
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fusion surgery could limit the ability for the sacrum and pelvis 

to open up during childbirth (RP 478-79), it was within the trial 

court’s discretion to allow a jury question to Kumar about her 

desire to have children and her concern about pain during 

childbirth.  In his testimony, Dr. Garcia was asked why he 

would not recommend fusion surgery.  (RP 478)  Dr. Garcia 

listed several reasons why he was hesitant to recommend 

surgery including that the surgery would “limit the motion of 

the sacroiliac joint.  Especially with younger patients, it’s 

something we have to be really cautious with because she 

would lose that ability to for the sacrum and pelvis to open up 

during childbirth.”  (RP 479) 

The following day, Kumar testified: “I guess we talked 

about surgery, but that's very scary for me because, like, I don't 

know -- it might have, like, other, like, side effects, you know. I 

am even scared to get the injections because I'm scared of shots, 

but I have to go and get them because I'm in a lot of pain.” (RP 

604). Kumar’s counsel did not ask Kumar about what side 
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effects of the surgery made her scared.  Kumar’s counsel asked 

Kumar how she felt about her conversation with Dr. Garcia.  

(RP 604). Kumar testified that she felt angry and sad.  (RP 

604). Kumar’s counsel did not ask Kumar about her desire to 

have children.  Kumar did not say anything about her desire to 

have children.  When the juror questions were submitted, 

Appleton objected as beyond the scope.  (RP 639).  Kumar 

argued that it was not beyond the scope because Dr. Garcia had 

mentioned the subject.  (RP 639). The record states: 

[Appleton’s Counsel]: We would object to 
Question 8.  This is outside the scope of her 
testimony and --- the issues at trial. 

[Kumar’s Counsel]: If your Honor wants a 
reply, I can reply to that. 

The Court: You may. 

[Kumar’s Counsel]: Dr. Garcia mentioned 
this as part of the reason why she couldn’t do the 
hip fusion even if he had thought that was a good 
idea at this point because of her childbearing age 
so, no, it’s not outside the scope.  The jurors are 
thinking about it.  These are encouraged.  We 
should ask this question. 

The Court: Anything else? 
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[Appleton’s Counsel]: Your Honor, yes.  Ms. 
Kumar has testified at length.  This is not one of 
the issues that she talked or testified about at all. 

The Court: I understand the objection.  I do think 
testimony on the subject had come in previously, 
and I’m going to permit the question.  As I did 
before, I will ask the questions and then I will 
allow both counsel to follow up. 

(RP 639) The trial court posed the juror questions to Kumar.  

Division I affirmed. 

Division I concluded that even if the juror question was 

considered cross-examination bound by the scope of direct 

examination under ER 611, a trial court is “permitted to inquire 

into the matter as if on direct examination.”  (Slip Op. at 14). 

Yet, a trial court may not comment on the evidence.  CONST. 

art. IV, § 16.  A trial court’s submission of a question to any 

witness that was not the subject of the witness’s direct 

examination is tantamount to a comment on the evidence.  State 

v. Jackson, 83 Wash. 514, 524, 145 P. 470 (1915) (judge taking 

a witness away from an attorney creates prejudice); State v. 

Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995) (court’s 
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statement may be impermissible comment on evidence if it 

infers court’s attitude on disputed issue).   

Here, the trial court’s questions added subjects to 

Kumar’s case, subjects which were not actually addressed by 

Kumar or her counsel on Kumar’s direct examination.  The jury 

was instructed that the court would determine whether a juror 

question to a witness was legally proper.  (RP 373). By asking 

the juror questions, the trial court signaled that the questions 

were legally proper.  See RP 373:11-12.  By asking the juror 

questions, the trial court allowed the introduction of new 

evidence. 

At least one leading treatise has acknowledged the risk of 

juror questions.   “[J]urors will attach an inordinate weight to 

the witnesses’ answers to the jurors’ questions and slight the 

testimony elicited by the parties.” 1 Kenneth S. Broun, 

MCCORMICK ON EVIDENCE § 8 (7th ed. 2013).  By posing the 

juror question to Kumar, the trial court commented on the 

evidence, introduced the subject of childbirth that Kumar’s own 
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counsel had not raised in her testimony, and gave unwarranted 

significance to the subject of childbirth.  

The Division I’s decision endorsing a trial court’s 

submission of a juror question that exceeds the scope of direct 

and cross-examination presents a significant constitutional 

question:  is a trial court’s submission of a juror question 

beyond the scope of direct and cross-examination an 

unconstitutional comment on the evidence?  This Court should 

accept review.  

B. DIVISION I’S DECISION REGARDING JUROR QUESTIONS 
IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST WHICH 
THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW. 

In 2002, Washington state adopted CR 43(k) which 

allows jurors to submit written questions to witnesses in civil 

trials.  CR 43(k) provides counsel must be given an opportunity 

to object and that the court shall establish procedures for 

making objections and answering questions from jurors to 

witnesses.  CR 43(k) also gives a court authority to rephrase or 

reword questions from jurors to witnesses. 
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This Court has only mentioned CR 43(k) once in a 

footnote.  In re Det. of West, 171 Wn.2d 383, 393, n.1, 256 P.3d 

302 (2011).  The Court did not address the rule other than to 

say that sexually violent predator (“SVP”) trials are civil 

proceedings, so CR 43(k) applies.  The Courts of Appeals have 

mentioned CR 43(k) in four published decisions.  Two of the 

four decisions were SVP proceedings where, like In re Det. Of 

West, the appellate court noted the proceedings are civil, so 

jurors are allowed to submit questions under CR 43(k).  In re 

Det. of Post, 145 Wn. App. 728, 809, n.5, 187 P.3d 803 (2008), 

rev'd and remanded on other grounds, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 

P.3d 1234 (2010); In re Det. of Greenwood, 130 Wn. App. 277, 

286-87, 122 P.3d 747 (2005) (rejecting ineffective assistance of 

counsel claim based on counsel’s failure to object to jury’s 

questioning), rev. denied, 158 Wn.2d 1010 (2006).  

In Afoa v. Department of Labor & Industry, 3 Wn. App. 

2d. 794, 811, 418 P.3d 190, rev. denied, 192 Wn.2d 1003 

(2018), Division I upheld the superior court’s ruling that denied 
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a request that jurors in an appeal from an Industrial Insurance 

Act (IIA) proceeding be allowed to pose questions under CR 

43(k).  In State v. Terry, 181 Wn. App. 880, 894, 328 P.3d 932 

(2014), Division III reversed a criminal defendant’s conviction 

and remanded for a new trial because the “juror-proposed, 

court-posed question” invited a comment on a defendant’s 

silence.  Here, the juror posed question allowed by the trial 

court added the subjects of childbirth and Kumar’s feeling 

about childbirth to the case.   

Here Division I endorsed a trial court asking questions 

outside of the scope of direct and cross-examination. Kumar 

was not asked by either counsel about childbirth.  Kumar was 

not asked by either counsel whether she wanted to have 

children.  Kumar was not asked by either counsel whether she 

was afraid to have children.  The juror question raised these 

subjects.  Division I concluded that the trial court properly 

exercised its discretion under ER 611(b) to “permit inquiry 

[during cross-examination] into additional matters as if on 
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direct examination.”  Yet, the juror question was not cross-

examination.  Nothing in ER 611 addresses how a juror 

question fits into the mode and order of interrogating witnesses.  

Had Appleton chosen to raise a new subject in the cross-

examination of Kumar, the trial court would have discretion to 

allow the new subject.  Extending that discretion to juror 

questions to witnesses is inconsistent with ER 611, exceeds the 

scope of CR 43(k), and results in the court making an 

unconstitutional comment on the evidence. 

This Court has interpreted ER 611(b) to limit the scope 

of cross-examination to the issues raised on direct.  In re Det. of 

West, 171 Wn.2d 383, 401, 256 P.3d 302 (2011); In re Det. of 

Duncan, 167 Wn.2d 398, 409, 219 P.3d 666 (2009).  This Court 

has also held that a trial court has discretion to permit inquiry 

into additional matters on cross-examination.  State v. Lord, 

117 Wn.2d 829, 870, 822 P.2d 177 (1991) and State v. 

Ferguson, 100 Wn.2d 131, 138, 667 P.2d 68 (1983) (holding 

trial court properly limited the scope of cross-examination); 
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State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 722, 780, 648 P.2d 668 (1984) (error 

to allow state to cross-examine defendant about details of his 

writings), reversed on other grounds, State v. Crossguns, 199 

Wn.2d 282, 291, 505 P.3d 529 (2022).  "[W]hen, in the direct 

examination, 'a general subject is unfolded, the cross-

examination may develop and explore the various phases of that 

subject.'"  State v. Robideau, 70 Wn.2d 994, 997, 425 P.2d 880 

(1967) (quoting Wilson v. Miller Flour Mills, 144 Wash. 60, 66, 

256 P. 777 (1927)). While a trial court has wide discretion to 

expand the scope of cross-examination, Robideau, 70 Wn.2d at 

997; State v. Jeane, 35 Wn.2d 423, 431, 213 P.2d 633 (1950), 

nothing in Washington’s case law permits a juror to expand the 

scope of witness examination into subjects not raised by 

counsel’s direct and cross-examinations.   

The trial courts, parties, and counsel need guidance from 

this Court about how to apply CR 43(k) and should accept 

review. 
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C. DIVISION I’S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH ESTABLISHED 
SUPREME COURT DECISIONS REGARDING SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT STANDARDS. 

1. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With Holdings 
That the Moving Party for Summary Judgment 
Must Establish No Issues of Disputed Facts. 

This Court has consistently held that the moving party on 

summary judgment must establish there was no issue of 

material fact and that she was entitled to judgment as a matter 

of law. CR 56(c); Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 112 Wn. 2d. 216, 

225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); LaPlante v. State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 

158, 531 P.2d 299 (1975). Division I concluded “Kumar plainly 

satisfied her initial burden on summary judgment” because 

Kumar argued the 2015 accident was the sole cause of her pain.  

(Slip Opinion at 5). Yet, Kumar’s summary judgment motion 

did not establish an absence of a factual dispute.  

Division I’s decision conflicts with Young, 112 Wn. 2d, 

at 225 and LaPlante, 85 Wn.2d at 158, by concluding Kumar 

carried her summary judgment burden because Kumar’s own 

submissions were inconsistent.  Dr. Garcia presented 



16 
 

conflicting opinions about Kumar’s osteitis condensans ilii 

(“OCI”), when it existed, and whether it was lit up by the 

accident. In his August 2019 declaration, Dr. Garcia testified 

that the OCI pre-existed the accident and made Kumar more 

susceptible to injury.  (CP 1049, ¶ 7)  In his March 2020 

declaration, Dr. Garcia stated the OCI did not make Kumar 

more susceptible to injury and the OCI has no clinical 

significance.  (CP 1045, ¶ 9)  

Dr. Garcia’s March 2020 declaration also differed from 

his August 2019 declaration about OCI causing pain.  In his 

March 2020 declaration, Dr. Garcia said OCI could not be 

causing plaintiff’s pain.  (CP 1045, ¶ 10)  Based on these 

vacillating opinions from Dr. Garcia, Kumar did not carry her 

initial burden on summary judgment and Division I’s decision 

conflicts with this Court’s LaPlante and Young decisions.  

Kumar did not establish the absence of an issue of material fact.   
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2. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With This 
Court’s Decisions That the Evidence on 
Summary Judgment Is Construed in the Light 
Most Favorable to the Nonmoving Party 

This Court has consistently held that on a summary 

judgment motion the material evidence and all reasonable 

inferences are considered in the light most favorable to the 

nonmoving party. Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 

P.3d 1080 (2015); Magula v. Benton Franklin Title Co., 131 

Wn.2d 171, 182-83, 930 P.2d 307 (1997).  Appleton’s summary 

judgment materials presented admissible proof for a jury to 

conclude that (a) Kumar’s accident-related injury was 

myofascial pain that resolved within two months of the accident 

and (b) that Kumar’s pain complaints were due, in part, to a 

March 2018 motor vehicle accident and May 2018 work-related 

injury.  (CP 1398, 1431)  Rather than construing Appleton’s 

summary judgment materials and all reasonable inferences in 

the light most favorable to Appleton, Division I weighed the 

evidence.  After improperly weighing the evidence, Division I 

rejected Appleton’s summary judgment materials. 
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a. Dr. Harris’s Opinion Was Based on Facts 
and Created Issues for the Jury to 
Decide:  What Injuries and Medical Care 
Were Causally Related to the 2015 
Accident. 

Dr. Harris reviewed all of Kumar’s medical records, 

records regarding the accident, and examined Kumar.  CP 139-

43.   Based on his review of these materials, his examination, 

and his training and experience, Dr. Harris concluded that: 

• Kumar suffered myofascial pain from the accident 

(CP 1445); 

• The accident did not cause any actual anatomic 

structural injury (CP 1444);  

• Kumar’s mild OCI was not caused by the accident 

and it was either very mild or developed after the 

accident (CP 1444, 1447);  

• Only one urgent care or doctor visit was 

reasonable, necessary, and related to the accident 

(CP 1446), and 

• Kumar’s accident related conditions resolved by 

January 1, 2016.  (CP 1445).  
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• Dr. Harris’s opinions and the bases of his opinions 

were detailed in his CR 35 report.  (CP 1439-

1449).   

Rather than construe Appleton’s summary judgment 

materials in the light most favorable to Appleton, Division I 

rejected Dr. Harris’s opinions labeling them “irrelevant” and 

“speculative.”  (Slip Op. 7-8).  Division I found Dr. Harris’s 

opinion as “irrelevant” because it “does not encompass the 

injuries diagnosed by Dr. Garcia.”  (Slip Op. at 7)  Dr. Harris’s 

opinion was something for the trier of fact, not a court, to weigh 

and determine Dr. Harris’s credibility.  Dr. Harris’s opinion 

was different than Dr. Garcia’s opinion.  Dr. Harris was not 

required to “encompass” Dr. Garcia’s opinion.  A jury could 

have concluded from Dr. Harris’s testimony that Kumar’s 

accident-related conditions were myofascial pain that resolved 

within one month after the December 2015 accident and that 

only one medical visit was reasonable, necessary, and related to 

the accident.   
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Division I labeled Dr. Harris’s opinion as “speculative” 

citing Stedman v. Cooper, 172 Wn. App. 9, 19-20, 292 P.3d 

764 (2012), for the proposition that Washington courts have 

concluded that an expert’s reliance on the results of human 

volunteer crash testing is speculative when the expert’s opinion 

does not consider how the accident affected the specific subject 

at issue.  (Slip Op. 8). Kumar never raised at the trial court or 

on appeal the argument that Dr. Harris’s opinion was 

speculative because Dr. Harris considered, in part, National 

Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) and 

Insurance Institute for Highway Safety (IIHS) studies.  Division 

I’s sua sponte reliance on a newly raised legal argument 

conflicts with this Court’s decisions that summary judgment 

materials must be construed in the light most favorable to the 

nonmoving party.   

Division I also misapplied the Stedman case.  Stedman 

involved the exclusion of a biomechanical expert’s opinion that 

implicitly stated that the accident impact was too small to cause 
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an injury.  172 Wn. App. at 20.  The Stedman Court affirmed 

the exclusion of the expert opinion as more likely misleading 

than helpful.  Id. at 20-21.  This case involves a medical expert 

who based his opinion on multiple sources.  Stedman is not 

applicable.  

Finally, Division I’s statements about the basis of Dr. 

Harris’s opinion misconstrue the summary judgment materials 

and do not consider them in the light most favorable to 

Appleton. Dr. Harris did not rely solely on the accident 

photographs and studies.  Dr. Harris’s opinion that Kumar did 

not suffer any “actual anatomic structure injuries” as a result of 

the accident is “primarily based” on photographs and studies.  

(CP 1444). “Primarily” is not “solely.”  Dr. Harris’s opinions 

were based on his review of all medical records, the history 

provided by Kumar, Kumar’s employment records, and his 

examination of Kumar.  (CP 1439-42). Kumar told Dr. Harris 

that she had cervical spine, lumbar spine, and hip pain within 

one hour of the accident.  (CP 1439). Dr. Harris reviewed 
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diagnostic studies done on December 13, 2015, and April 5, 

2017.  (CP 1442-43). Dr. Harris notes that the December 2015 

study shows no hip or sacroiliac arthritis and no degenerative 

process in the sacroiliac spine.  (CP 1442-43). The April 5, 

2017, CT of the pelvis showed no evidence of any arthrosis or 

joint inflammation of either sacroiliac joint.  (CP 1443). 

Division I’s decision does not consider all of Appleton’s 

summary judgment materials in the light most favorable to 

Appleton and therefore conflicts with Keck and Magula. 

b. Appleton’s Summary Judgment 
Materials Established That Kumar’s 
Subsequent March 2018 Automobile 
Accident and May 2018 Workplace 
Injury Were the Cause of Back Pain. 

Appleton’s materials in response to summary judgment 

included admissible proof that Kumar’s March 2018 

automobile accident and May 2018 work injury contributed to 

her condition.  (CP 1398, 1431)  Appleton also presented 

admissible proof through the opinion of Dr. Harris that raised a 

genuine issue of fact regarding what injury was causally related 
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to the accident.  Division I’s decision conflicts with Keck v. 

Collins by misapplying the standard of review by failing to 

consider Appleton’s evidence in the light most favorable to 

Appleton. Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 370. 

Appleton’s summary judgment materials established that 

Kumar was involved in a motor vehicle accident in March 

2018, over two years after the accident involved in this lawsuit.  

(CP 1396-97, 1398). At her deposition, Kumar could not recall 

whether she received any medical treatment after the March 

2018 accident. (CP 1397).   However, the medical records show 

that Kumar received medical care at Vera Whole Health on 

March 8, 2018, for back pain, the onset of which was one day 

prior. (CP 1401). At the March 8, 2018, medical appointment, 

Kumar reported that she was in a motor vehicle accident the 

previous day.  She reported abdominal pain of 6/10 and back 

pain 4/10.  (CP 1401).  

Appleton’s summary judgment submission also 

established that Kumar hurt her upper back, shoulder, and wrist 
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at work on May 1, 2018, while pulling out a bed in a patient’s 

room.  (CP 1392-94, 1398, 1431). Kumar sought medical care 

at Vera Whole Health on May 16, 2018, for back pain.  (CP 

1406). Kumar reported that she was pulling out a parent bed 

and had diffuse back pain.  (CP 1406) Her back pain was 4-5/10 

with flares to 8/10.  (CP 1406). She also had left wrist pain.  

(CP 1406).  During this May 16, 2018, Kumar also reported 

that she had chiropractic treatment for her right hip after a 2015 

motor vehicle accident.  (CP 1406). Notably however, Kumar 

told her provider that the right hip pain from the 2015 accident, 

the very accident at issue in this case, had resolved.  (CP 1406).   

On May 21, 2018, Kumar had a follow-up appointment 

for low back pain reporting pain levels of 4-5/10 increasing to 

6-7/10 with activity.   (CP 1409). At a June 7, 2018, 

appointment she reported ongoing back pain.  (CP 1411). She 

gave the history of a motor vehicle accident two years prior and 

had a back injury which had resolved. Kumar did not attribute 

her back pain to the December 2015 accident. (CP 
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1412).Kumar reported that she was still on work restrictions.  

(CP 1414)  

Appleton’s summary judgment materials further 

established that Kumar had physical therapy in 2018 for her 

back pain which she attributed solely to a work injury.  (CP 

1413, 1416). By July 26, 2018, she had had seven visits.  (CP 

1416). Kumar reported her condition had improved but she 

continued to have “trouble with prolonged positioning, like 

sitting and standing.”  (CP 1416). The plan as of July 26, 2018, 

was for Kumar to continue with six more weeks of physical 

therapy, twice a week for 12 visits. (CP 1417). This evidence of 

Kumar’s treatment for back pain after a May 2018 work injury 

created a genuine issue of fact about whether Kumar’s back 

injury was solely related to the December 2015 accident.   

The evidence of Kumar’s treatment for back pain after a 

March 2018 motor vehicle accident and May 2018 work 

accident along with her own admissions that her hip and back 

pain from the 2015 accident had resolved created genuine 
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issues of fact about whether Kumar’s hip and back injuries were 

solely related to the December 2015 accident.  Division I’s 

decision conflicts with Keck and Magula when it decided 

factual issues that a jury should have decided.  

V. CONCLUSION 

Division I’s decision raises an important constitutional 

question about a trial court’s comment on the evidence by 

posing juror questions to witnesses and raises an issue of 

substantial public importance about the application of and 

limitations of CR 43(k). Division I’s decision also conflicts 

with this Court’s decisions on summary judgment standards. 

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant review. 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

RAMANPREET KUMAR, an individual, 

Respondent, 

v. 

KATHARINE R. APPLETON, Executor of 
the Estate of William George Appleton, Jr., 
and “JANE DOE” APPLETON, both 
individually and on behalf of the marital 
community composed thereof, 

Appellants. 

No. 84899-2-I  

DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FELDMAN, J. — Katharine Appleton, Executor of the Estate of William 

Appleton (Appleton), appeals from a jury verdict and judgment awarding 

Ramanpreet Kumar $6.5 million in noneconomic damages caused by a motor 

vehicle collision as to which Appleton admitted liability.1 Finding no reversible 

error, we affirm. 

I 

On December 10, 2015, Appleton’s vehicle collided with Kumar’s vehicle 

after Appleton turned left through an intersection without yielding the right-of-way 

to Kumar. Three days after the collision, Kumar went to the emergency room 

1 We use “Appleton” in this opinion to refer to both William Appleton and his estate, which 
replaced him as the defendant after his death unrelated to the motor vehicle collision.  
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complaining of pain in her neck and right hip from the motor vehicle collision. The 

emergency room physician diagnosed Kumar with an acute cervical strain and 

right hip strain.  

Almost a year later, following extensive chiropractic and massage therapy 

treatments Kumar’s treating physician, Dr. Alma Garcia, diagnosed Kumar with 

“lumbosacral injury with a probable underlying joint injury with probable 

myofascial component, and right sacroiliac and piriformis involvement.”2 Kumar 

underwent physical therapy and received cortisone injections to her right 

sacroiliac joint (SI joint) every six months.  

Kumar returned to Dr. Garcia in April 2019 for another cortisone injection. 

Kumar informed Dr. Garcia that her hip pain from the 2015 collision had not 

improved. Given the lack of improvement, Dr. Garcia ordered an MRI, which 

revealed Kumar has osteitis condendans ilii (OCI). OCI is a thickening of the iliac 

bone. It is generally asymptomatic, as it was here prior to the 2015 collision.   

Kumar sued Appleton for damages caused by the collision. Following 

discovery, including a CR 35 examination of Kumar by Dr. James Harris,3 Kumar 

filed a motion for partial summary judgment seeking dismissal of each and all of 

the causation defenses set forth in Appleton’s answer. The trial court granted the 

motion. Before trial, Kumar filed motions in limine to exclude the testimony of two 

2 “Lumbar” refers to the lower back. The “sacrum” is a fusion of vertebrae comprising the base of 
the spine. The “ilium” is a bone forming part of the pelvis. The “sacroiliac joint” is where the ilium 
and sacrum come together. The “piriformis” is a muscle that connects to the outer hip across the 
sacrum. “Myofascial pain” refers to muscle spasms and tension related to muscle strain.  

3 CR 35 allows a trial court, upon a motion for good cause, to order a party to submit to a physical 
examination by a physician when the physical condition of that party is in controversy. CR 
35(a)(1). 
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of Appleton’s expert witnesses, Dr. Harris and Dr. Dean Shibata, because their 

opinions that Kumar’s OCI is causing her ongoing pain contradicted the trial 

court’s summary judgment ruling striking Appleton’s causation defenses. The trial 

court granted these motions.  

At trial, Dr. Garcia testified that the 2015 motor vehicle collision caused 

Kumar to suffer a permanent “lumbosacral injury with sacroiliac dysfunction.” 

Regarding treatment, Dr. Garcia stated that injections into the SI joint usually 

alleviate this type of pain for five to ten years, after which surgery may be 

required. Kumar testified that her hip is in constant pain, and her friends and a 

coworker testified that her injury has limited her ability to do physical activities 

and caused her to become emotionally “soulless.”  

The jury awarded Kumar $6.5 million in noneconomic damages, consisting 

of $5 million for past and $1.5 million for future noneconomic damages. Appleton 

filed a motion for a new trial, which the trial court denied with the exception of 

lowering the interest rate on the judgment from 11 percent to 9 percent. Appleton 

timely appeals.  

II 

A. Award of partial summary judgment to Kumar

In her summary judgment motion, Kumar requested that the trial court

strike all of the causation defenses that Appleton raised in his answer, including 

the following: 

3.  Any and all damages and/or injuries sustained by [Kumar], if
any, may have preexisted the events alleged against [Appleton]
by [Kumar] in the Amended Complaint, or otherwise have been
caused by subsequent events and/or instrumentalities having no
connection to [Appleton].
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  . . . . 

7.   Any and all damages and/or injuries sustained by [Kumar], if 
any, may not have been foreseeable and/or may have been 
caused by or contributed by intervening causes that [Appleton] 
had no control over and for which they are not legally 
responsible 

(Emphasis added.) Appleton claims the trial court erred in granting the motion 

because these causation issues should have been decided by the jury. We 

disagree. 

We review “summary judgment orders de novo, engaging in the same 

inquiry as the trial court.” Desranleau v. Hyland’s, Inc., 10 Wn. App. 2d 837, 842, 

450 P.3d 1203 (2019). We consider only “evidence and issues called to the 

attention of the trial court.” RAP 9.12. “Summary judgment is warranted only 

when there is no genuine dispute of material fact and the moving party is entitled 

to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). The facts and all reasonable inferences 

are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Desranleau, 10 

Wn. App. 2d at 842. We also review de novo a trial court’s evidentiary rulings 

made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion. Watness v. City of 

Seattle, 16 Wn. App. 2d 297, 305, 481 P.3d 570 (2021). 

Critical here, summary judgment motions are governed by “‘a burden-

shifting scheme.’” Welch v. Brand Insulations, Inc., 27 Wn. App. 2d 110, 114, 531 

P.3d 265 (2023) (quoting Bucci v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., 197 Wn. App. 318, 326, 

387 P.3d 1139 (2016)). “The moving party bears the initial burden ‘to prove by 

uncontroverted facts that there is no genuine issue of material fact.’” Id. (quoting 

Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977)). If the moving 

party satisfies its burden, then the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to “‘set 
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forth specific facts evidencing a genuine issue of material fact for trial.’” Id. 

(quoting Schaaf v. Highfield, 127 Wn.2d 17, 21, 896 P.2d 665 (1995)).  

Kumar plainly satisfied her initial burden on summary judgment. In her 

summary judgment motion, Kumar argued that the 2015 collision was the sole 

cause of the pain for which she would be seeking damages at trial. Kumar relied 

on declarations from Dr. Garcia stating that Kumar had no history of back or hip 

pain or disability prior to the 2015 collision, that she had been continually 

experiencing pain in the same region of her right hip and lower back since the 

collision, that Dr. Garcia diagnosed her with a “lumbosacral injury with a probable 

underlying joint injury with probable myofascial component, and right sacroiliac 

and piriformis involvement,” and that this diagnosis is “more likely than not, with a 

reasonable degree of medical certainty, related to the December 10, 2015, motor 

vehicle collision.”  

Kumar also submitted evidence showing that her OCI condition preexisted 

and was asymptomatic prior to the 2015 collision. Kumar then cited Washington 

precedent holding that such a preexisting condition cannot be a proximate cause 

of damages resulting from a negligent act where, as here, that condition was 

asymptomatic prior to the accident.4 Because Kumar satisfied her initial burden 

of showing that there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding causation for 

her claimed injuries, the burden of production shifted to Appleton (the nonmoving 

party) to “‘set forth specific facts evidencing a genuine issue of material fact for 

                                            
4 Little v. King, 160 Wn.2d 696, 705, 161 P.3d 345 (2007); Harris v. Drake, 152 Wn.2d 480, 494, 
99 P.3d 872 (2004); Hoskins v. Reich, 142 Wn. App. 557, 570, 174 P.3d 1250 (2008). 
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trial.’” Welch, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 115 (quoting Schaaf, 127 Wn.2d at 21). 

Where, as here, the moving party satisfies their initial burden and the 

burden of production shifts to the nonmoving party, that party “cannot rely on 

‘speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain, or 

in having its affidavits considered at face value.’” M.E. v. City of Tacoma, 15 Wn. 

App. 2d 21, 31-32, 471 P.3d 950 (2020) (quoting Seven Gables Corp. v. 

MGM/UA Entm’t Co., 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986)). Expert testimony is 

generally required on the issue of medical causation. Street v. Weyerhaeuser 

Co., 189 Wn.2d 187, 198, 399 P.3d 1156 (2017). That testimony must be based 

on reasonable medical certainty or probability and cannot be based on 

speculation, conjecture, or mere possibility. Desranleau, 26 Wn. App. 2d at 438. 

Additionally, the “expert must support [their] opinion with specific facts, and a 

court will disregard expert opinions where the factual basis for the opinion is 

found to be inadequate.” Woodward v. Lopez, 174 Wn. App. 460, 468, 300 P.3d 

417 (2013) (quoting Rothweiler v. Clark County, 108 Wn. App. 91, 100, 29 P.3d 

758 (2001)). An expert’s opinion that is based on a conclusion or an assumption 

instead of facts “is not evidence which will take a case to the jury.” Theonnes v. 

Hazen, 37 Wn. App. 644, 648, 681 P.2d 1284 (1984).  

Despite this burden shifting framework, Appleton’s brief in opposition to 

Kumar’s summary judgment motion is conclusory and unsupported by requisite 

evidence. Appleton devoted a single paragraph to the issue of alternative causes 

of Kumar’s pain. Regarding injuries that preexisted the 2015 motor vehicle 

accident, Appleton conceded that “there does not appear to be any preexisting 

symptomatic condition just prior to the [2015] accident.” By conceding this critical 
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factual issue and ignoring the cases that Kumar cited on this point, Appleton 

effectively agreed that there are no fact issues regarding causation from 

preexisting events or injuries (such as OCI).   

Turning to subsequent events, including intervening and superseding 

causes, Appleton argued that Kumar “suffered from additional injuries and 

underwent further treatment for a motor vehicle accident and work-related injury 

that occurred in 2018 and impacted her ability to continue in her job position at 

the time.” Appleton stated these “subsequent injuries . . . affect the outcome of 

issues in this case and should be presented to a trier of fact.” But despite alluding 

to these subsequent injuries, Appleton did not explain how they caused any of 

the damages that Kumar was seeking at trial. Nor did Appleton present expert 

testimony on this critical point, as required to establish medical causation. See 

Street, 189 Wn.2d at 198. 

Finally, Appleton relied on Dr. Harris’ opinion that the 2015 collision did 

not cause Kumar to suffer an “anatomic structural injury”—which Dr. Harris 

defined as “fracture, dislocation, ligament or tendon disruption or laceration, 

significant injury to the integument, or a neurovascular injury”—and that Kumar 

“instead suffered nonspecific myofascial pain.” But the lack of an “anatomic 

structural injury” to Kumar following the 2015 collision is irrelevant because that 

term, according to Dr. Harris’ own definition, does not encompass the injuries 

diagnosed by Dr. Garcia, namely joint pain and sacroiliac dysfunction.  

Additionally, in reaching his conclusion that Kumar only suffered 

“myofascial pain” from the collision, Dr. Harris relied solely on photographs of the 

accident scene and studies of how people are typically injured in the type of 
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motor vehicle collision that would have produced the damage to the vehicles 

depicted in the photographs. Washington courts have found that an expert’s 

opinion based on information gathered in human volunteer crash testing is 

speculative when, as here, it does not consider how the accident affected the 

specific subject at issue. See Stedman v. Cooper, 172 Wn. App. 9, 19-20, 292 

P.3d 764 (2012) (rejecting expert’s conclusion that plaintiff “could not have been 

injured in the accident because the force of the impact was too small”). For this 

reason too, Appleton failed to carry his burden to set forth specific facts and 

admissible evidence supporting his causation defenses. On this record, the trial 

court correctly granted Kumar’s motion for summary judgment dismissing these 

defenses and determined medical causation as a matter of law.5 

Notwithstanding the above analysis, Appleton argues that he established 

genuine issues of material fact regarding causation because “Dr. Harris 

disagreed with Dr. Garcia about the nature and extent of the accident-related 

injuries.” As explained above, Appleton could not avoid summary judgment by 

merely asserting that his experts disagree with Kumar’s experts. See M.E., 15 

Wn. App. 2d at 31-32. Instead, Appleton was required to provide admissible 

expert testimony that was not based on speculation, conjecture, assumptions, or 

mere possibility, which he failed to do. See Desranleau, 26 Wn. App. 2d at 438. 

                                            
5 The trial court’s summary judgment order also determined that there were no genuine issues of 
material fact as to whether Kumar’s past medical expenses between the date of the 2015 collision 
and July 2019 were reasonable in cost, medically necessary, and causally related to the collision. 
Kumar later dismissed all of her economic damages claims, and these past medical expenses 
were not included in the jury’s verdict or trial court’s judgments on the verdict. Therefore, we do 
not separately address whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment as to the 
recoverability of these past medical expenses other than as discussed in the text above with 
regard to causation generally.  
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Notably, Dr. Harris agreed with Dr. Garcia that Kumar began experiencing pain in 

her right hip area after the 2015 motor vehicle collision and that she was still 

experiencing this same pain years after the collision. In light of the materials 

Appleton submitted on summary judgment, his conclusory assertions about the 

“nature and extent” of Kumar’s pain were insufficient to avoid summary judgment. 

Next, Appleton argues that Dr. Harris’ reliance on OCI as the only source 

of Kumar’s ongoing pain did not render all his opinions inadmissible because he 

was not required to explain why Kumar is still experiencing pain. This argument 

ignores the principle that experts must adequately explain the foundation for their 

opinions. See Woodward, 174 Wn. App. at 468. Because Appleton conceded on 

summary judgment that evidence of OCI is inadmissible to dispute causation, Dr. 

Harris would not have been able to explain to a jury why he ultimately disagreed 

with Kumar’s experts that OCI is causing the pain for which she was seeking 

recovery.  

To avoid this result, Appleton argues that Harris v. Drake, 152 Wn.2d 480, 

493-94, 99 P.3d 872 (2004), and Little v. King, 160 Wn.2d 696, 704-05, 161 P.3d 

345 (2007)—which generally recognize that evidence of asymptomatic 

preexisting conditions is inadmissible on the issue of causation—are 

distinguishable because, unlike the experts in those cases, Dr. Harris could 

somehow offer “admissible evidence on causation.” But Appleton does not 

explain what this evidence is and why it would be admissible. Because Appleton 

failed to establish fact issues as to his causation defenses, the trial court did not 
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err in granting partial summary judgment to Kumar.6 

B. Exclusion of Drs. Harris and Shibata as defense expert witnesses 

In her motions in limine to exclude the expert testimony of Drs. Harris and 

Shibata, Kumar argued that their testimony regarding causation was inadmissible 

because it contradicted the trial court’s summary judgment ruling dismissing 

Appleton’s causation defenses. The trial court granted Kumar’s motion and 

excluded Dr. Harris’ and Dr. Shibata’s testimony because it would be unhelpful, 

speculative, and unreliable. Appleton claims that the trial court abused its 

discretion in so ruling. We disagree. 

In ruling on motions in limine, trial courts are afforded wide discretion in 

determining the admissibility of expert testimony, and these rulings are reviewed 

for an abuse of discretion. Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga, 181 Wn.2d 346, 352, 

333 P.3d 388 (2014). An expert witness may only offer an opinion that will “assist 

the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue.” ER 

702. Where, as here, an expert seeks to address a defense that has been 

stricken as a matter of law, it is axiomatic that such testimony cannot assist the 

trier of fact in determining a fact in issue as ER 702 requires. See e.g., Magana 

v. Hyundai Motor Am., 123 Wn. App. 306, 315, 94 P.3d 987 (2004) (“It is error for 

the jury to consider evidence that the court either has not admitted or has 

stricken.”). That is precisely what occurred here, making it unnecessary to 

                                            
6 On appeal, Appleton also assigns error to the trial court’s denial of his motion for 
reconsideration. We decline to address this issue on the merits or consider any evidence 
submitted with Appleton’s motion for reconsideration because Appleton’s appellate brief offers no 
supporting argument as to why the trial court erred in denying reconsideration. See Christian v. 
Tohmeh, 191 Wn. App. 709, 727-28, 366 P.3d 16 (2015) (“[T]his court does not review issues not 
argued, briefed, or supported with citation to authority.”) (citing RAP 10.3(a)(6)). 
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address alternative grounds for granting Kumar’s motions. 

In her motions in limine regarding Drs. Harris and Shibata, Kumar argued 

that their opinions related to the causation contradicted the trial court’s summary 

judgment ruling and therefore would be confusing, unhelpful, speculative, and 

unreliable. Appleton’s responsive motion did not address these reasons for 

excluding Dr. Harris. As to Dr. Shibata, Appleton argued that he should be 

allowed to address “any other conditions if [Kumar] opens the door to discussion 

of these issues, including the [OCI] condition.” At the hearing on the motions in 

limine, when the court asked for an example of what Dr. Harris could say at trial 

without violating the summary judgment order, Appleton responded that Dr. 

Harris “would not say what he believes it [the pain] is from; he can just argue I 

disagree with Plaintiff’s providers as to what they believe it is.”  

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it rejected these 

arguments. The trial court correctly noted that any testimony from Dr. Harris 

about OCI would be “irrelevant” based on the summary judgment ruling striking 

Appleton’s causation defenses. The trial court likewise concluded that Dr. 

Shibata was merely “attempting to put that issue [OCI] back in front of the jury as 

a preexisting condition that affects the issues left in the case . . . [and] it’s just not 

relevant.” Both witnesses would have testified that Kumar’s ongoing pain was 

unrelated to the 2015 collision and was instead caused by OCI. But the trial 

court’s summary judgment ruling striking all of Appleton’s alternative causation 

defenses clearly prohibited his experts from opining that OCI is causing Kumar’s 

ongoing pain. Because it was not possible for Dr. Harris or Dr. Shibata to offer 

admissible testimony on causation in conformance with the trial court’s summary 
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judgment ruling, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting Kumar’s 

motion to preclude them from testifying at trial. 

C. References to insurance during voir dire 
 

Appleton argues the trial court “erred by interjecting insurance 

unnecessarily into the trial” during jury selection. We disagree. 

Before trial, Kumar submitted proposed voir dire questions that asked 

potential jurors whether they or anyone they knew had experience working in the 

insurance industry. The court overruled Appleton’s objection to these proposed 

questions, reasoning that prospective jurors “may have deeply held beliefs that . . 

. simply make it impossible for them or too difficult for them to follow the law as 

instructed, and some of those can be related to issues involving insurance.” The 

trial court also denied Appleton’s motion in limine to prohibit references to 

insurance, but clarified that “questions may not imply this or other similar 

defendants are insured.” At the beginning of voir dire, the trial court asked 

Kumar’s proposed insurance-related questions and instructed jurors to raise their 

hands if they answered in the affirmative. Kumar’s counsel later followed up with 

one of those jurors, who was ultimately stricken for cause without objection from 

Appleton.  

A trial court’s ruling on the scope and content of voir dire is reviewed for 

an abuse of discretion. State v. Frederiksen, 40 Wn. App. 749, 752-53, 700 P.2d 

369 (1985). While ER 411 states that “[e]vidence that a person was or was not 

insured against liability is not admissible upon the issue whether the person 

acted negligently or otherwise wrongfully,” it does not prohibit mentioning 

insurance for “another purpose.” ER 411; Terrell v. Hamilton, 190 Wn. App. 489, 
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499, 358 P.3d 453 (2015). Critical here, Washington courts have long permitted 

questioning relating to insurance during voir dire to discover bias among potential 

jurors to justify a challenge for cause. See Popoff v. Mott, 14 Wn.2d 1,8-9, 126 

P.2d 597 (1942).  

 As both ER 411 and relevant case law permit, the references to insurance 

during voir dire were for “another purpose” within the meaning of the rule, namely 

to discover bias among potential jurors. Moreover, any prejudice from these 

references to insurance was cured by final jury instruction 11, which stated, 

“Whether or not a party has insurance . . . has no bearing on any issue that you 

must decide.” Therefore, we conclude that the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion by permitting reference to insurance during voir dire. 

D. Juror questions about Kumar’s fears of childbirth 

Appleton argues the trial court erred by permitting Kumar to answer a 

juror’s questions asking, “Does this pain affect your desire to have children? Is it 

too painful or would it be prohibitive?” Appleton objected to these questions 

based on ER 611(b) as outside the scope of Kumar’s direct testimony. The trial 

court overruled the objection because Dr. Garcia had previously testified that a 

potential future treatment option for Kumar included a surgery that would prevent 

her from giving birth naturally. In response to the juror question, Kumar said the 

pain from the collision made her scared to get pregnant and that this fear 

contributed to her divorce from her husband. Because the trial court acted within 

its discretion under ER 611 in asking the juror question, we disagree with 
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Appleton on this point.7 

Washington law affords trial courts flexibility in asking juror questions. CR 

43(k) requires that a trial court allow jurors to submit to the court written 

questions directed to witnesses, and ER 611(a) instructs courts to “exercise 

reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses and 

presenting evidence.” While ER 611(b) states that cross examination “should” be 

limited to the subject matter of the direct examination, the rule also states that the 

court “may, in the exercise of discretion, permit inquiry into additional matters as 

if on direct examination.” Our court reviews ER 611 rulings for “manifest abuse of 

discretion.” State v. Hakimi, 124 Wn. App. 15, 19, 98 P.3d 809 (2004). 

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by asking the juror questions at 

issue. By the time the jury proposed these questions, it had already heard Dr. 

Garcia’s testimony that Kumar might need surgery that could preclude natural 

childbirth as well as Kumar’s testimony that she and Dr. Garcia “talked about 

surgery, but that’s very scary for me because . . . it might have . . . side effects.” 

The juror’s questions followed up on this issue by asking whether Kumar’s pain 

affected her desire and ability to have children. Even assuming the court’s 

reading of the jury questions constituted cross examination and was thereby 

governed by ER 611, the court was still permitted to inquire into the matter as if 

on direct examination. See ER 611(b). Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in asking these juror questions. 

E. Improper statements during Kumar’s closing argument 

                                            
7 Appleton also argues on appeal that this question violated ER 403, but this argument is waived 
because he did not object on ER 403 grounds at trial. See State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 
705 P.2d 1182 (1985).  
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Appleton claims the trial court erroneously denied his motion for a new 

trial because Kumar’s counsel made three statements during closing argument 

that deprived him of a fair trial.8 We review the denial of a motion for new trial 

based on alleged attorney misconduct for abuse of discretion and only reverse if 

“such a feeling of prejudice has been engendered or located in the minds of the 

jury as to prevent a litigant from having a fair trial. See Gilmore v. Jefferson 

County. Pub. Transp. Benefit Area, 190 Wn.2d 483, 502, 415 P.3d 212 (2018) 

(quoting Alum. Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 537, 998 

P.2d 856 (2000)). Because none of Kumar’s counsel’s statements was both 

improper and prejudicial, we reject Appleton’s argument.  

First, Appleton argues that Kumar’s counsel improperly “referred to his 

own personal situation of pain” when he said “I’ve been in pain.” Appleton fails to 

provide legal authority or argument explaining why this remark was improper or 

prejudicial. See State v. Loos, 14 Wn. App. 2d 748, 758, 473 P.3d 1229 (2020) 

(“When a party provides no citation to support an argument, this court will 

assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none.”). Even assuming the 

                                            
8 Appleton assigns error to the trial court’s denial of his motion for a new trial and entry of 
judgments on the jury’s verdict. But Appleton’s issue statement on these assigned errors asserts 
that the trial court “deprived [Appleton] of a fair trial by the multiple errors at the trial,” without 
specifying what these trial errors were. Appleton’s motion for a new trial raised many of the same 
arguments discussed in the text above. Appleton’s motion also raised several other issues that he 
has either declined to raise on appeal or failed to support in his appellate briefs with substantive 
argument and citations to relevant legal authority. These arguments include (a) the trial court’s 
exclusion of two additional defense expert witnesses, (b) unspecified “other questions objected to 
during [Kumar’s] jury selection” that tainted the jury pool, (c) Dr. Garcia’s reference during his trial 
testimony to an excluded defense expert witness, (d) Kumar’s “last minute switch in her case 
strategy” in which she dismissed her economic damages claim before opening statements, and 
(e) the inconsistency of the jury’s award of substantial past noneconomic damages in light of the 
evidence and Kumar’s theory of the case. Because Appleton fails to properly present or argue 
these issues, we decline to consider them. See Christian, 191 Wn. App. at 728. 
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remark was improper, the trial court sustained Appleton’s objection and 

instructed the jury to disregard the remark, and the jury is presumed to have 

followed this instruction. See Diaz v. State, 175 Wn.2d 457, 474, 285 P.3d 873 

(2012).  

Second, Appleton argues that Kumar’s counsel improperly “pointed to the 

lack of evidence in [Appleton’s] case” by asking, “Why ask hardly any questions 

of [Kumar]? Why put on no case[?]” The trial court overruled Appleton’s objection 

to these remarks as improper burden shifting. Again, Appleton fails to provide 

legal authority or argument explaining why these remarks were improper and 

prejudicial. See Loos, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 758. Regardless, the remark was not 

improper because attorneys have “wide latitude to make reasonable inferences 

from the evidence during closing argument.” Hamblin v. Castillo Garcia, 23 Wn. 

App. 2d 814, 839-40, 517 P.3d 1080 (2022). Given this wide latitude, Kumar 

could properly suggest to the jury in closing argument that any further cross 

examination of Kumar or additional evidence produced by Appleton would have 

been unfavorable. See Krieger v. McLaughlin, 50 Wn.2d 461, 464, 313 P.2d 361 

(1957).  

Third, Appleton argues that Kumar’s counsel made comments during 

closing argument that violated the general principle prohibiting counsel from 

appealing to the jurors to “place themselves in the position of a litigant and to 

decide the case based upon what they would then want under the 

circumstances.” Adkins v. Alum. Co. of Am., 110 Wn.2d 128, 140, 750 P.2d 1257 

(1988). Because Appleton did not timely object to the purportedly improper 

statements at issue, he has waived this argument on appeal. A.C. v. Bellingham 
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Sch. Dist., 125 Wn. App. 511, 524, 105 P.3d 400 (2004). Therefore, we conclude 

that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appleton’s motion for 

new trial. 

III 

The trial court correctly granted Kumar’s motion for partial summary 

judgment and Kumar’s motions in limine to exclude Drs. Harris and Shibata. 

None of Appleton’s other alleged errors warrant reversal. Therefore, we affirm 

the trial court in all respects. 

 

 
 
        
WE CONCUR: 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION ONE 

RAMANPREET KUMAR, an individual,

Respondent, 

v. 

KATHARINE R. APPLETON, Executor 
of the Estate of William George 
Appleton, Jr., and “JANE DOE” 
APPLETON, both individually and on 
behalf of the marital community 
composed thereof, 

Appellants. 

No. 84899-2-1 

ORDER DENYING MOTION 
FOR RECONSIDERATION AND 
WITHDRAWING AND 
SUBSTITUTING OPINION  

The appellant, Estate of Appleton, has filed a motion for reconsideration of the 

opinion filed on December 26, 2023.  The court has determined that the motion should 

be denied, but the opinion should be withdrawn, and a substitute opinion filed; now, 

therefore, it is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration is denied; and it is further 

ORDERED that the opinion filed on December 26, 2023 is withdrawn; and it is 

further 

ORDERED that a substitute unpublished opinion shall be filed. 

APPENDIX B



REED MCCLURE

March 06, 2024 - 4:29 PM

Filing Petition for Review

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court
Appellate Court Case Number:   Case Initiation
Appellate Court Case Title: Ramanpreet Kumar, Respondent v. Katharine R. Appleton, et al, Appellants

(848992)

The following documents have been uploaded:

PRV_Petition_for_Review_20240306162830SC469085_3036.pdf 
    This File Contains: 
     Petition for Review 
     The Original File Name was Petition for Review.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

brian@wellstrumbull.com
christopher.roess.vadcqm@statefarm.com
davidnauheim@gmail.com
info@moore.law
jennifer.kim.eksk@statefarm.com
joseph@cascade.law
josh@wellstrumbull.com
mclifton@rmlaw.com

Comments:

Sender Name: Angelina de Caracena - Email: adecaracena@rmlaw.com 
    Filing on Behalf of: Marilee C. Erickson - Email: merickson@rmlaw.com (Alternate Email: )

Address: 
1215 Fourth Ave., Ste. 1700 
Seattle, WA, 98161 
Phone: (206) 386-7060

Note: The Filing Id is 20240306162830SC469085


	Tables.pdf
	I. NATURE OF THE CASE 1
	II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
	III. RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURE 2
	IV. ARGUMENT 3
	A. Division I’s Decision Presents a Significant Question of Law Under the Washington State Constitution: Whether a Trial Court’s Submission of a Juror Question That Exceeds the Scope of Direct and Cross-Examination Constitutes an Unconstitutional Comm...
	B. Division I’s Decision Regarding Juror Questions Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Which This Court Should Review 10
	C. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With Established Supreme Court Decisions Regarding Summary Judgment Standards 15
	1. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With Holdings That the Moving Party for Summary Judgment Must Establish No Issues of Disputed Facts 15
	2. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With This Court’s Decisions That the Evidence on Summary Judgment Is Construed in the Light Most Favorable to the Nonmoving Party 17
	a. Dr. Harris’s Opinion Was Based on Facts and Created Issues for the Jury to Decide:  What Injuries and Medical Care Were Causally Related to the 2015 Accident 18
	b. Appleton’s Summary Judgment Materials Established That Kumar’s 2018 Accident and Workplace Injury Were the Cause of Back Pain 22



	V. CONCLUSION 26
	APPENDIX A Court of Appeals February 5, 2024, Unpublished Opinion
	APPENDIX B Court of Appeals February 5, 2024,  Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Withdrawing and Substituting Opinion

	Body.pdf
	I. NATURE OF THE CASE
	II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
	IV. ARGUMENT
	A. Division I’s Decision Presents a Significant Question of Law Under the Washington State Constitution: Whether a Trial Court’s Submission of a Juror Question That Exceeds the Scope of Direct and Cross-Examination Constitutes an Unconstitutional Comm...
	B. Division I’s Decision Regarding Juror Questions Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Which This Court Should Review.
	C. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With Established Supreme Court Decisions Regarding Summary Judgment Standards.
	1. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With Holdings That the Moving Party for Summary Judgment Must Establish No Issues of Disputed Facts.
	2. Division I’s Decision Conflicts With This Court’s Decisions That the Evidence on Summary Judgment Is Construed in the Light Most Favorable to the Nonmoving Party
	a. Dr. Harris’s Opinion Was Based on Facts and Created Issues for the Jury to Decide:  What Injuries and Medical Care Were Causally Related to the 2015 Accident.
	b. Appleton’s Summary Judgment Materials Established That Kumar’s Subsequent March 2018 Automobile Accident and May 2018 Workplace Injury Were the Cause of Back Pain.



	V. CONCLUSION
	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
	Petition for Review


	Appendix A.pdf
	IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
	Blank Page

	Appendix B.pdf
	Blank Page




